Review

What can be learned from intermediate filament gene regulation in the mouse embryo¹

PHILIPPE DUPREY* and DENISE PAULIN

Laboratoire de Biologie Moléculaire de la Différenciation, Université Paris VII and Institut Pasteur, Paris, France

CONTENTS

Introduction	444
Sequential expression of intermediate filament during development	444
Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP): tissue-specific and dynamic	
expression patterns	445
GFAP is the last type III IF to be expressed during development	445
Alteration in GFAP synthesis in pathological situations	445
Both 5' upstream and intragenic elements control GFAP gene transcription	445
GFAP transgenes suggest further heterogeneity among astroglial cells	446
Peripherin: an additional neuronal filament	447
Peripherin is expressed in neurons of different embryological origins	447
A tissue-specific repressor controls peripherin gene transcription	447
Peripherin upstream and intragenic sequences are required	
to target neuronal expression in transgenic mice	448
Desmin: a muscle-specific IF protein	449
Desmin is expressed in skeletal, cardiac and smooth muscles	449
Two independent enhancers control desmin gene expression in skeletal muscle Desmin transgenic mice provide evidence for distinct cardiac,	449
smooth and skeletal muscle gene programs	451
Vimentin: a potentially ubiguitous IF	451
Vimentin is the first type III IF to be expressed during development	451
Multiple enhancer and silencer elements control vimentin gene expression	451
Vimentin transgene recapitulates the complex and dynamic expression pattern	452
Discussion	452
Conclusion	453
Summary and key words	
References	454

*Address for reprints: Laboratoire de Biologie Moléculaire de la Différenciation, UFR de Biochimie, tour 42, Université Paris VII, 2 Place Jussieu, 75005 Paris, France. FAX: 33.1.44277907.

¹This paper is dedicated to Hubert Condamine.

0214-6282/95/\$03.00 © UBC Press Printed in Spain

Introduction

Embryonic development involves generation of numerous cell types, each of which is characterized by the expression of specific sets of genes. Analysis of the mechanisms controlling cell-specific transcription opens the route towards the identification of regulators' networks. For this purpose, genes encoding intermediate filament proteins (IFs) provide an attractive model system (Franke *et al.*, 1978; Lazarides, 1980, 1982; Geisler and Weber, 1981, 1982, 1983; Osborn and Weber, 1982; Geisler *et al.*, 1983, 1984; Traub, 1985; Weber and Geisler, 1985; Steiner and Roop, 1988; Zehner, 1991; Stewart, 1993).

IFs constitute a multigenic family whose members are expressed in a cell-specific manner. Among IF genes, sequence homologies are concentrated in the coding part, whereas regulatory sequences are considerably more divergent.

According to sequence homologies and exon-intron organization, the different IF genes have been classified into five classes (Table 1). The members of four classes are expressed in the cytoplasm. Lamins, which are found in the nucleus, constitute an independent class (type V) (Georgatos and Blobel, 1987). However a number of additional IF proteins have recently been identified in various vertebrate and invertebrate organisms (Weber *et al.*, 1991; Brunkener and Georgatos, 1992; Hemmati-Brivanlou, 1992; Riemer *et al.*, 1993; Liem, 1993; Remington, 1993).

Type I (acidic) and type II (basic) cytokeratins found as heteropolymers in epithelial cells constitute the first two classes. The third class (type III) contains four members with different expression profiles: while desmin is found in muscle, GFAP in astrocytes, and peripherin in some neurons, vimentin is observed in many different cells. The members of the fourth class, (type IV), α -internexin, nestin and the neurofilament triplet, are all expressed in neural cells. In addition, nestin is also expressed in skeletal muscle precursors. Recently, two other proteins, filensin and tanabin, which share structural organization and sequence homology with intermediate filaments, have been characterized (Brunkener and Georgatos, 1992; Hemmati-Brivanlou, 1992; Gounari *et al.*, 1993; Remington, 1993). Expressed in lens, filensin is associated with phakinin (Merdes *et al.*, 1993) while tanabin can be found in the neuronal growth cones.

Sequential expression of intermediate filaments during development

The first intermediate filaments are detectable in oocytes and are composed of type 5, 6, 8 and 16 cytokeratins (Chisholm and Houliston, 1987; Lehtonen *et al.*, 1987; Gallicano *et al.*, 1994). Low expression of types 8 and 18 cytokeratins can be detected in early cleavage and morula stage mouse embryos (Duprey *et al.*,

1985; Chisholm and Houliston, 1987; Lehtonen *et al.*, 1987). The expression of types 8 and 18 cytokeratins increases at the blastocyst stage, where they are mostly expressed in the trophectoderm cells (Brulet *et al.*, 1980; Jackson *et al.*, 1980; Paulin *et al.*, 1980; Oshima 1982; Duprey *et al.*, 1985). Pairs of the different keratins will be expressed in the various epithelia later during development (Moll *et al.*, 1982; Powell and Rogers, 1990; Fuchs, 1991; Vassar *et al.*, 1991; Coulombe, 1993). Although most epithelial cells express only cytokeratins, transient expression of vimentin has been described in migrating parietal endodermal cells from 8.5 days p.c. mouse embryos (Lane *et al.*, 1983; Lehtonen *et al.*, 1983). In mesenchymal cells the first appearance of vimentin filaments was reported in primitive mesoderm cells at day 8.5 between the ectoderm and proximal endoderm layers (Jackson *et al.*, 1981; Franke *et al.*, 1982).

Vimentin is characterized by a transient expression in some precursor cells during early development. Vimentin is expressed in neural precursors and mesenchymal cells prior to the accumulation of the tissue-specific filaments (Holtzer et al., 1982; Lazarides, 1982; Cochard and Paulin, 1984). In few cases, coexpression of two types of intermediate filament is maintained. This was shown to be the case for some glial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells and in the plexiform layer of the retina (Shaw et al., 1981; Dräger, 1983). In most cases, tissue specific filaments progressively replace vimentin, thus leading to the transient coexistence of several different intermediate filament proteins. Another intermediate filament protein, nestin, is transiently expressed in both myogenic precursors from the somites and neuroepithelial precursors of the central nervous system (Lendahl et al., 1990; Sejersen and Lendahl, 1993; Zimmerman et al., 1994). α-internexin is found in the neural tube and neural crestderived neuroblasts before the neurofilament proteins appear (Liem, 1993). Post-mitotic neuroblasts, which are first generated at day 9 p.c., express the neurofilament proteins. A subset of these postmitotic neuronal precursors is characterized by the presence of an additional intermediate filament protein, peripherin. The last filament system to appear in the neural system is GFAP, which is expressed in astrocytes and Schwann cells at the end of gestation (E18). In striking contrast to the diversity of intermediate filaments in the nervous system, only one muscle-specific filament has been found in adult mouse cardiac, skeletal and smooth muscle. In the heart, desmin expression can be initially detected at day 8 p.c. while in the somitic skeletal muscle precursors, it appears shortly before day 9 p.c. On the other hand, transient expression of cytokeratins has been observed in developing human fetal heart (Kuruc and Franke, 1988) and the expression of cytokeratins has been reported in human smooth muscle (Azumi et al., 1988)

It is noteworthy that each structural class of intermediate filaments (see Table 1) corresponds to major expression lineages such as cytokeratins in epithelia or neurofilaments in neurons, except for type III filaments, vimentin, desmin, GFAP and peripherin, which are expressed in different lineages. Recent reviews on intermediate filament regulation focused on epithelia (Oshima, 1992) or neurons (Liem, 1993) and thus discussed the regulation of highly related genes within a given cell lineage.

Type III IF genes encode highly related proteins, and the organisation of these genes is very similar. Indeed they are encoded by rather small genes (not exceeding 10 kbp) all made of 9 exons and 8 introns. By contrast the control sequences are completely divergent. These similarities and differences reinforce the interest of the use of type III IF as a model to analyze cell-specific gene regulation.

In this review we will focus on the regulation of type III IF gene expression.

Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP): tissue-specific and dynamic expression pattern

GFAP is the last type III IF sequence to be expressed during development

Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein is a 54 kDa (430 aminoacids) type III intermediate filament protein which is the major component of astroglial intermediate filaments (Bignami et al., 1972; Maunoury et al., 1976; Lewis et al., 1984; Tardy et al., 1988). GFAP is expressed in most, but not all, astroglial cells of adult mammals. GFAP expression has been detected in tanycytes (De Vitry et al., 1981), cerebellar golgi epithelial cells, retinal Müller cells, fibrous astrocytes and to a lesser degree, in protoplasmic astrocytes. During embryonic development GFAP is not expressed by radial glial cells, the exclusive astroglial cells of the embryonic central nervous system (CNS), which express vimentin (Dahl et al., 1981). In the mouse, GFAP expression was first detected at day 16 p.c. in the 4th ventricle (Galou, unpublished result) and at day 17 p.c. in the retina (Boloventa et al., 1987). However in the rat immunochemical studies allow us to detect GFAP as early as at day 14 p.c. in the brain and day 16 p.c. in the spinal cord (Noetzel and Agrawal, 1985). Later on, immunocytochemical methods revealed the presence of GFAP in the rat embryo CNS at day 17 p.c. in the dentate gyrus (Rickmann et al., 1987), while other studies described GFAP staining at day 18 p.c. in rat embryo brain and spinal cord (Raju et al., 1981; Valentino et al., 1983).

GFAP expression further increases after birth, concomitantly with the gradual disappearance of vimentin intermediate filaments in most, but not all, astroglial cells (Eng, 1980, 1985; Lewis and Cowan 1985; Tardy *et al.*, 1988; Mokuno *et al.*, 1989; Sarthy *et al.*, 1991). Indeed, it was observed that, while many astroglial cells still co-express GFAP and vimentin in the adult, a subset of these cells does not express GFAP. Expression of GFAP or of a highly similar protein was also detected in some non-astroglial cells such as Schwann cells, peripheral glial cells and perisinusoidal cells from rat liver.

While GFAP expression is mostly detected in cells of neural origin, some extra-neural GFAP expression has been reported. In the mouse, GFAP expression is detected in epithelial cells of the lens. This lens expression of GFAP is only detected in some mouse species. For instance, GFAP expression is detected in *Mus musculus* but not in *Mus spretus* mice (Boyer *et al.*, 1991).

TABLE 1

CYTOPLASMIC AND NUCLEAR INTERMEDIATE-FILAMENT TYPES

Types	Sub-units
	Acidic Cytokeratins
11	Basic Cytokeratins
111	Desmin, GFAP, Peripherin, Vimentin
IV	Neurofilaments, (L) light, (M) medium, (H) Heavy
	α- internexin, Nestin
V	Lamins A,B,C
Other non classified	Filensin

Alteration in GFAP synthesis in pathological situations

In the adult, increased GFAP expression is observed in several CNS pathologies such as Alzheimer's disease (Delacourte, 1990), epilepsy and multiple sclerosis (Eng et al., 1971; Eng, 1980). Theses pathologies are characterized by astrocytic hyperplasia and hypertrophy correlated with a marked increase in GFAP expression which can also be detected in cells surrounding glioma as well as upon trauma and ageing (Beach et al., 1989). Developmental and pathological expression of GFAP in astroglial cells has led to the hypothesis of the involvement of this protein in some of the functions of these cells which include neurotransmitter processing, control of extracellular channel activity, vascular-brain barrier and immune reactions. However the recent disruption of the mouse gene encoding GFAP through homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells argues against this hypothesis. Indeed mice devoid of GFAP develop normally. No obvious anatomical abnormalities have been observed and the astrocytic response against injury occurs normally when the mutant mice are infected with prions (Gomi et al., 1995).

Both 5' upstream and intragenic elements control GFAP gene transcription

So far, the *GFAP* gene has been isolated and characterized in rat, mouse and human. The human gene was found to be located on chromosome 17, while the mouse gene is located on chromosome 11 (Boyer *et al.*, 1991). Regulatory sequences of the mouse gene have been extensively analyzed both *in vitro* in astroglial cell lines and *in vivo* in transgenic mice.

In the case of the murine *GFAP* gene, whole promoter sequence and transcriptional start sites have been determined (Miura *et al.*, 1990, 1991). In those studies, the luciferase gene was set under the control of various deletion mutants of the murine *GFAP* gene promoter and the resulting luciferase activity was measured in GFAP-positive (rat C6 glioma) and negative (neuroblastoma, and NIH-3T3 fibroblastic) cells. It was observed that sequences required for tissue-specific expression were located within 256 bp from the transcription start point. Using DNase footprinting, three binding sites for transcription factors designed as GFI (-104 to -82), GFII (-124 to -104) and GFIII (-163 to -140) were defined in this region (Fig. 1).

The GFI binding site is homologous to the binding site for the AP2 factor, while GFII and GFIII binding sites correspond to NFI



Fig. 1. 5' regulatory elements of class III IF genes. Schematic representation of 5' regulatory elements of IF genes from class III: GFAP, peripherin, desmin and vimentin. The names of sequences corresponding to known consensus elements are indicated: GFI (AP 2), GFII (NF 1), GFIII (CREB) for GFAP, PER 1, PER 2, PER 3 for peripherin, MyoD, MEF-2, Krox for desmin, AP1 and NFKB for vimentin. Note the presence in the vimentin upstream region of binding sites for the Hox family of homeoproteins which might play a role in the complex developmental control of vimentin expression (unpublished data from A. Benazzouz). In the desmin intragenic region, Cd corresponds to one or several uncharacterized cardiac-specific element(s) (unpublished data from Z.L. Li).

and cyclic-AMP responsive element consensus sequences, respectively. Mutations in GFII binding site decreased promoter activity, while base substitution in the GFI and GFIII sites resulted in luciferase expression in GFAP negative cell lines in which the wild type promoter is not active. Therefore, it appears that the proximal *GFAP* promoter is composed of both a ubiquitous positive element (GFII) and two tissue-specific negative elements (GFI and GFIII). It is noteworthy that no sequence corresponding to the target sequence for a glial-specific transcription factor was observed in this study, raising the possibility that cell-specificity could be due to the combination of more widely expressed factors. It is clear that further work will be necessary to verify whether the GFI, II and III factors correspond to new or known members of the corresponding families of transcription factors.

Another study using a similar approach described the occurrence of a putative AP-1 binding site, "TGACTCT", located immediately upstream of the GFIII site (Sarid, 1991). In this study the interaction of nuclear factors with this sequence was not investigated. However, it was previously shown that this sequence corresponds to an extremely weak AP-1 binding site (Nakabeppu et al., 1988), which raises the question as to whether this site is biologically relevant. On the other hand, the sequence "TGGGGTGAGA", which shows some homology to the binding site for the PER3 factor involved in the control of the activity of the promoter of the IF gene encoding peripherin, is located between nucleotides -142 and -133 (Desmarais et al., 1992). However, no binding to this site was detected. The possibility that binding of the GFIII factor, whose target sequence overlaps by 2 base pairs the putative GFAP PER3 sequence, prevents binding of the latter factor to the GFAP promoter must be considered.

These studies, exploiting promoter-reporter gene fusions, suggested that the sequences required for the cell-specific expression of the murine GFAP gene, were located close to the transcriptional start site. However, other investigators, using the entire murine GFAP gene found evidence for additional important elements located in the intragenic regions. Using such approach, it was found that an upstream region located between nucleotides -1631 and -1479 is a strong glial-specific positive element, while a negative regulatory element located in the first intron prevents transcription in non-glial cells such as Hela cells (Sarkar and Cowan, 1991). In this study, the glial-specific proximal element observed by Miura et al. (1990) was not observed. This might suggest that a negative interaction occurs between intragenic negative regulatory sequences and the previously described proximal cell-specific element. The significance of this potential interaction deserves further experimentation.

Other investigations using transfection methods demonstrated the presence of two cell-specific negative regulatory elements within the related rat *GFAP* gene (Kaneko and Sueoka, 1993). GDR1, a 2.7 kb region extending from the first intron to the fifth exon, prevents the activation of a 10. 8 kb promoter in non-neural tissue. Addition of GDR2, a 1.7 kb region located downstream of the polyadenylation site, further suppresses expression in neuronal cells. These negative regulatory elements function in a position-independent manner, and both of them were found to be required for the proper expression of the GFAP gene (Fig. 1).

Analysis of the human *GFAP* gene has led to the discovery of an additional initiator site, located downstream from the transcriptional start site (nucleotides +10 to +40). These sequences are perfectly conserved in the murine GFAP gene (Nakatani *et al.*, 1990; Besnard *et al.*, 1991).

While much attention has been devoted to the tissue-specific expression of the GFAP gene, it is well established that GFAP expression can also be modulated by hormonal stimuli. Indeed both sex steroids, growth factors and cytokines can affect GFAP expression (Laping *et al.*, 1994). Comparative analysis of the 5' upstream sequences of the rat, mouse and human genes has shown the occurrence of putative response elements, which are conserved between the three genes (Laping *et al.*, 1994). However no functional analysis of these possible control sequences has been reported yet.

Altogether, these investigations using cell lines suggest that multiple elements are required for the proper expression of the *GFAP* gene. Indeed, control of *GFAP* gene transcription is conferred by the combination of ubiquitously active positive regulatory elements and tissue-specific negative control regions (Fig. 1). However, the ultimate demonstration of the importance of these multiple regulatory elements requires *in vivo* experiments using a transgenic mouse approach.

GFAP transgenes suggest further heterogeneity among astroglial cells

Two different constructs derived from the murine *GFAP* gene have been used to generate transgenic mice. In a first study, the *lac-Z* gene was inserted in frame with the coding sequence of the *GFAP* gene. The resulting construct contained all introns, 2 kb of 5' upstream sequences, and 2.5 kb of the 3' flanking sequences fused to the *lac-Z* gene. During insertion of the *lac-Z* gene, possible additional murine initiator elements (located within a 50



Fig. 2. Expression of GFAP-lac-Z in the embryo and in the adult mouse brain. Upstream sequences (-1913 to +92) from the murine GFAP gene were linked to the lac-Z reporter gene and the resulting construct was used to generate transgenic mice. (A) Initial expression of GFAP-lac-Z transgene in 16-day p.c. embryo: lateral view. (B) Brain section was stained for beta-galactosidase activity (nuclear blue staining), the same section is treated for immunodetection of GFAP revealed by peroxydase-conjugated antibodies (brown color). Note that the transgene is expressed in most but not all GFAPpositive cells, as revealed by the antibody staining. (Unpublished data from P. Dupouey, M. Galou and L. Lossouarn).

bp fragment of the first intron of the *GFAP* gene) were deleted (Mucke *et al.*, 1991). Another construct fused upstream sequences between -1913 and + 92 to the *lac-Z* gene. (Galou *et al.*, 1994). In both cases the transgene was expressed in astroglial cells. However a large fraction of astroglial cells expressing endogenous GFAP did not express either transgene, suggesting the occurrence of further heterogeneity among astroglial cells (Fig. 2). On the other hand, expression of both transgenes could be detected in some neuronal cells. Thus it is clear that other mechanisms than those defined using cell lines must be involved in the control of the proper expression of the *GFAP* gene.

Although these transgene expression patterns slightly differ from the endogenous GFAP pattern, it was observed that both transgenes began to be expressed at embryonic day 16 (Fig. 2). In adult mice, induction of experimental gliosis led to an increased expression of the transgenes and to the induction of their expression in previously *lac-Z* negative astroglial cells. Thus these two types of transgenes will be very useful for deciphering the mechanisms involved in the control of the *GFAP* gene during normal ontogeny and in pathological situations.

Peripherin: an additional neuronal filament

Peripherin is expressed in neurons of different embryological origin

Peripherin is a 57 kDa (451 aminoacids) type III IF protein whose expression is restricted to a subset of neuronal cells. Its expression was first described in neuroblastoma cells derived from the peripheral nervous system and in PC12 pheochromocytoma cells where expression of peripherin mRNA is enhanced by nerve growth factor (NGF) (Portier *et al.*, 1984; Leonard *et al.*, 1988). In fact, its expression is also observed in neuronal cells not derived from the peripheral nervous system (Escurat *et al.*, 1990; Troy *et al.*, 1991).

In adult rodents (rat and mouse), peripherin is found in all sensorial neurons, even though these cells are of various embryonic origins (neural crest: spinal ganglial neurons; placodes: acoustic and olfactive neurons; neural tube: retinal ganglional neurons). Peripherin expression is also detected in some neural tube-derived motor neurons in retinal preganglional neurons and in neural crest-derived spinal ganglia and sympathetic neurons. All these neurons have different embryological origins. Peripherin expression in these neurons correlates with the fact that they all extend their neurites outside the brain-spinal cord axis. Additional peripherin-expressing cell types include medullosurrenal cells and pancreatic endocrine cells, which raises the question of the embryonic origin of these cells.

In the mouse, initial expression of peripherin is first detected at day 9 p.c. while rat embryos start to express this protein at day 11 p.c. In both cases initial peripherin expression parallels or immediately follows expression of the 70 kDa neurofilament protein. As the embryo develops, the peripherin expression domain will gradually extend to all neuronal cell types which will express it in the adult. (Escurat *et al.*, 1990; Gorham *et al.*, 1990; Troy *et al.*, 1991).

A tissue-specific repressor controls peripherin gene transcription

The *peripherin* gene has been cloned in rat and mouse. In the mouse, the peripherin locus is located in the E-F region of chromosome 15, while the human gene has been assigned to chromosome 12 q12-q13 (Moncla *et al.*, 1992). The regulation of *peripherin* gene expression was analyzed mostly in cultured neuroblastoma and PC12 pheochromocytoma cells (Desmarais *et*



Fig. 3. Initial expression of peripherin-*lac-Z* transgene in 13-day p.c. embryos. The transgene contains 5.8 kb of peripherin upstream sequences linked to the lac-Z reporter gene. (A) Lateral, (B) dorsal view. Note the prominent expression in ganglia. (Unpublished data from J.L. Simonneau).

al., 1992; Thompson *et al.*, 1992). In both rat (PC12) and mouse (N18TG2) peripherin-expressing cell lines, the use of a series of *peripherin* promoter deletion mutant constructs led to the conclusion that the *peripherin* upstream control region contains alternating positive and negative elements. It was observed that only 98 bp of the mouse *peripherin* gene promoter suffice to confer cell specific expression to the reporter *lac-Z* gene, while no activity was observed in negative cell lines, rat and mouse glioma, mouse olfactory bulb and mouse lung carcinoma.

This 98 bp proximal cell-specific region contains three areas, PER1 (TATAAAGCCGCCCCGCATCGGTCT), PER2 (CCCCCACCCCC) and PER3 (TGGGAGGAGC), which are protected by nuclear factors (Fig. 1) (Desmarais et al., 1992), while the PER2 and PER3 elements interact with widely distributed factors, the PER1 sequence binds factors that are only found in peripherin-expressing cells. The PER1 and PER3 elements are perfectly conserved in rat and mouse, while the PER2 motif is not found in the rat gene. However the corresponding rat sequence is also C-rich. The PER3 element is found in the promoter regions of all type III IF genes and bears homology to the binding sequence for the E. coli MalT helix-turnhelix factor (Richet et al., 1991). The PER1 sequence, which includes the TATA box of the gene, is distinct from the known TATA box binding factor consensus sequences and has not been described previously. Furthermore, it was shown that the factor that interacts with the PER1 motif bears no affinity to TA-rich sequences. Therefore, it seems likely that the PER1 factor is not related to any TATA box-binding factors. Mutational analyses were conducted to determine the relative contributions of the three elements to the activity of the peripherin promoter. From these studies it appears that PER2 and PER3 are important for determining the level of expression, while PER1 was important for cell type specificity. Therefore, it seems that peripherin promoter activity is controlled by the combination of non-specific positive elements containing the PER2 and PER3 motifs and a negative cell-specific element corresponding to the PER1 sequence (Desmarais et al., 1992). In this respect, the mechanisms involved in the control of the activity of the *peripherin* promoter are very similar to the ones controlling cell-specific expression of the *GFAP* gene.

An additional level of regulation of *peripherin* promoter activity is observed upon addition of NGF to PC12 cells, which leads to further activation of *peripherin* gene transcription (Thompson *et al.*, 1992). This is correlated with an increase in promoter activity due both to the release of a negative control mechanism involving sequences located between nucleotides -111 and -179 and to the activation of an upstream positive regulatory element located between nucleotides -2660 and 2290 (Fig. 1) (Thompson *et al.*, 1992).

Peripherin upstream and intragenic sequences are required to target neuronal expression in transgenic mice

While most studies dealing with peripherin regulation have been performed using cell lines, *peripherin* gene-*lac-Z* fusion constructs have been recently used to generate transgenic mice (Fig. 3). Up to 5.8 kb of *peripherin* upstream sequences have been used. Analysis of the transgenic mice, which is in progress, shows expression in peripherin-expressing cell types with some additional ectopic expression sites which vary according to the transgenic mouse line.

These embryos present an expression in the peripheral nervous system (Fig. 3) (trigeminal ganglia and maxillary branches; cranial nerves; dorsal root ganglia; sympathetic chain) but ectopic expression was found in mesoderm (cartilages of limbs) and in the central nervous system. These results suggest that the 5.8 kb upstream region of the mouse *peripherin* gene is not able to drive the expression of *lacZ* gene in a tissue-specific manner. This result is comparable to that obtained by Begemann *et al.* (1990) for promoters of other genes (insulin and neurofilament).

Using another construct with 5.1 kb of additional intragenic sequences added, the spatial and temporal patterns of transgene expression are consistent with the reported developmental regulation of the endogenous *peripherin* gene. In the absence of

intragenic sequences, ectopic expression was obtained. This result illustrates the role of intragenic sequences in the regulation of the *peripherin* gene.

Desmin: a muscle-specific IF protein

Desmin is expressed in skeletal, cardiac and smooth muscles

Desmin is a 55 kDa muscle cytoskeletal protein (468 aminoacids) whose gene belongs to the class III of intermediate filaments (Lazarides and Hubbard, 1976; Small and Sobieszek, 1977; Geisler and Weber, 1982).

Desmin is one of the first muscle-specific proteins to be detected in the mammalian embryo (Table 2) since it is expressed before titin, skeletal muscle actin, myosin heavy chains and nebulin (Hill et al., 1986; Fürst et al., 1989; Babai et al., 1990). During mouse embryonic development, desmin has been first detected at 8.25 days p.c. in the ectoderm where it was transiently coexpressed with keratin and vimentin (Schaart et al., 1989). Desmin has been detected in the heart rudiment at 8.5 days p.c. and its expression increased in the myocardial cells during subsequent cardiogenesis (Schaart et al., 1989). From 9 days p.c. onwards, desmin expression in newly formed myotomes follows the somitic maturation rostro-caudal gradient (Table 2), (Mayo et al., 1992). By day 11 p.c., clusters of desmin positive cells can be detected in cephalic muscles. In limb buds, by day 12 p.c., primary fibers display desmin expression (Table 2). Subsequently, the levels of desmin expression in skeletal, cardiac and smooth muscles remain high throughout embryogenesis and in early postnatal life (Li et al., 1993). Finally, both smooth muscles from visceral organs and from blood vessels express desmin (Table 2).

Two independent enhancers control desmin gene expression in skeletal muscle

Desmin is derived from a fully characterized single copy gene (Quax *et al.*, 1985; Li *et al.*, 1989; Li and Capetanaki, 1993) which has been mapped to band q35 of the long arm of human chromosome 2 (Viegas-Péquignot *et al.*, 1989) and band C3 of mouse chromosome 1 (Li *et al.*, 1990).

The expression of the desmin gene differs from that of most other genes sharing the characteristic of being repressed in proliferating undifferentiated myoblasts, and whose expression is activated concomitantly with myoblast fusion. In contrast, desmin expression is initiated in replicating myoblast and accumulates to a high level as muscle cells differentiate (Pieper et al., 1987; Kaufman and Foster, 1988; Li and Paulin, 1991). This pattern is recapitulated in the mouse C2 myogenic cell line, where desmin is expressed at low levels in myoblasts. To date, all the musclespecific enhancers, such as the rat and mouse muscle creatine kinase enhancer (Jaynes et al., 1988; Sternberg et al., 1988; Horlick and Benfield, 1989), rat myosin light chain (MLC1/3) enhancer (Donoghue et al., 1988), quail tropomyosin I enhancer (Yutzey et al., 1989), chicken and mouse acetyl choline receptor *∂-subunit* enhancer (Baldwin and Burden, 1989; Wang et al., 1990) and chicken acetyl choline receptor a-subunit enhancer (Wang et al., 1988) function in differentiated cells but not in their precursors.

In the human *desmin* gene, a positive regulatory element that is important for high-level expression, is located in the region between -973 and -693 bp relative to the start site of transcription

TABLE 2

INITIAL EXPRESSION OF VIMENTIN AND DESMIN IN 8-14 DAY p.c. EMBRYO DETECTED BY IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE

Vimentin	
primitive mesoderm	6
notochord	8.5
cephalic mesenchyme	8.5
heart epimyocardia	8.5
blood vessels	8.5
somatopleura	8.5
splanchnopleura	8.5
otic arch	9
neural tube	9
spinal ganglia	10.5
cardiac trabeculae	10.5
intestine mesenchyme	10.5
liver mesenchyme	10.5
kidney mesenchyme	10.5
sympathetic ganglia	14
spinal cord	14 ependymal and marginal layer
Desmin	
heart	8
somites	
	1-14 9
	15-24 9.5
	25-64 10
diaphragm	11
intercostal muscles	11
fore limb	10
hind limb	11
mandibular muscles	11
lingual muscle	11
tongue	11
palate	11
vascular smooth muscles	10

Data from: Gabbiani *et al.*, 1981; Jackson *et al.*, 1981; Franke *et al.*, 1982; Cochard and Paulin, 1984; Fürst *et al.*, 1989; Schaart *et al.*, 1989; Babai *et al.*, 1990; Mayo *et al.*, 1992; Li *et al.*, 1993; and unpublished observations from Z.L.Li, A. Lilienbaum and D. Paulin.

and shows characteristics of a muscle-specific enhancer (Fig. 1). This enhancer can function not only in differentiated myotubes, but also in undifferentiated myoblasts (Li and Paulin, 1993). Downstream of this enhancer, a negative region located between nt -693 and -228 has been found (Fig. 1). Between nt -228 and + 75, another positive region containing a classical TATA box and transcriptional initiation sites was defined as the desmin promoter and can confer low level muscle-specific expression to a CAT reporter gene (Fig. 1) (Li and Paulin, 1991). The mouse desmin promoter was recently characterized and found to have a similar functional organization (Li and Capetanaki, 1993). In the case of the human gene, the enhancer was further characterized and found to be composed of two independent enhancer elements (Li and Paulin, 1993). One of these is active only in myotubes, while the activity of the second region has been detected only in myoblasts (Fig. 1). The myotube-specific region contains one MyoD1 site (TTGGCAGCTGTTGC) and one MEF2 site (TCTATAAATACCC). These two sites are necessary for full enhancer activity in myotubes (Fig. 1). MyoD1 is the prototype of a small family of helix-loop-helix (HLH) transcription factors that play a key role in the control of skeletal myogenesis (for reviews see



Fig. 4. Vimentin (A) and desmin (B) expression in 9-day transgenic embryos: lateral views. Embryos were stained for beta-galactosidase. The vimentin transgene was generated by insertion of the lac-Z gene inside the endogenous gene from embryonic stem cells in frame with the N-terminal murine vimentin sequences by homologous recombination. The genetically modified embryonic stem cells were then used for the generation of chimeric mice. The desmin-lac-Z transgene contains 1 kb of desmin upstream sequences cloned upstream of the lac-Z gene. (A) Vimentin lac-Z transgenes are mostly expressed in the neural tubes and blood vessels, which results in this apparently diffuse distribution (unpublished data from C. Babinet and E. Colluci). (B) Expression of lac-Z was found in the somites of desmin transgenic embryos. Note that at this stage, the anterior somites are intensely stained, while the posterior ones are unstained, in agreement with the well-known rostro-caudal somitic differentiation gradient (unpublished data from Z.L. Li).

Weintraub, 1993; Duprey and Lesens, 1994; Olson and Klein, 1994). Myocyte-specific MEF2 factors bind to an A+T rich site that is highly conserved in many muscle genes (Gossett *et al.*, 1989). The myotube-specific enhancer region does not function in myoblasts, and deletion or mutation of the MyoD1 or the MEF2 site does not influence the myoblast-specific enhancer activity of the desmin gene. This correlates with the fact that some myogenic HLH proteins are present in myoblasts but unable to activate muscle-specific gene expression while MEF2 is not expressed in proliferating myoblasts.

As mentioned above, a major difference between the regulation of the *desmin* gene and the regulation of other contractile protein genes is that the desmin enhancer is active in myoblasts. This activity is due to the presence of a 150 bp myoblast-specific enhancer region. Footprinting experiments performed with nuclear extracts from myogenic cells revealed the presence of four protected regions within the 150 bp myoblast-specific fragment. These four regions contain several GC-rich sequences; three of them contain a Krox-like sequence which has 8 bp homology to the 9 bp consensus binding site for Krox factors

(Christy and Nathans, 1989; Lemaire et al., 1990). Two Krox-like sequences. K1 (GTGTGTGGGGCGTG) and K3 (GCGGGGGGGGGGGAG), tested in gel mobility shift assays, are capable of binding the same factors that bind to the Krox site (Fig. 1). Deletion or mutation of any of them reduced CAT activity in myoblasts by at least 50% but did not influence the enhancer activity in myotubes. The Mb sequence (GGGGCAGGAGCCAC) is also a GC-rich sequence (Fig. 1). Although it shares 13 bp out of the 14 bp MyoD1 binding site, the Mb sequence does not interact with factors of the MyoD family. The Mb sequence binds the same (or very closely related) factors as the K1 and K3 sequences. The Krox-family factors containing three zinc-finger motifs, are encoded by immediate-response genes which are induced by diverse signals such as growth factors and mitogens. It is interesting to note that one of the Krox members, Krox 24 (also known as egr-1, Zif268, TIS8 or NGF1-A), is present in the C2 myoblasts. Egr-1 has been shown to be present in developing muscles in vivo, and seems to participate in the regulation of the rat cardiac a-myosin heavy chain gene in cardiac muscle cells (McMahon et al., 1990; Gupta et al., 1991).

Desmin transgenic mice provide evidence for distinct cardiac, smooth and skeletal muscle gene programs

Even though cardiac, skeletal and smooth muscles express desmin, it is of considerable interest to define whether desmin expression would be regulated with identical or different ciselements in these three tissues. The use of in vitro models to address this question however, has inherent limitations. On the other hand, the transgenic methodology permits the analysis of both temporal and spatial regulation of the transgene (Fig. 4). This was achieved by generating transgenic mice bearing transgenes in which the previously characterized 2.5 or 1 kb 5' regulatory sequences (Li and Paulin, 1991) of the desmin gene were linked to a reporter lac-Z gene. Both transgenes were expressed in the committed mononucleate myogenic cells as well as in myotubes (Fig. 4) (Li et al., 1993 and unpublished results). In addition, transgenes were expressed in the mononucleate cells leaving the somites and invading the limb buds, indicating that the cells migrating from the somites are predetermined for myogenesis (Fig. 4).

No expression of the transgenes was observed in cardiac or in smooth muscles. Therefore, these results demonstrate that the upstream regulatory sequences are competent to promote specific expression of desmin in skeletal muscle, and suggest that other sequences are necessary for cardiac and smooth muscle expression.

The activity of the transgenes differs in the adult mice. Whereas the 2.5 kb regulatory sequences are active in fetal and adult skeletal muscles, the activity of the 1 kb proximal regulatory sequences decreases after birth and stops at eleven days post natal. At eleven days the activity of the muscle genes is regulated by the thyroid hormone. It seems that the region -1.3 kb to -2.5 kb includes a hormone responsive element (Li *et al.*, in preparation).

Further experiments have shown that transgene including 2.5 kb of upstream sequences and intragenic sequences spanning the first four exons fused in frame to the *lac-Z* gene is expressed not only in skeletal muscle but also in heart muscle. Thus it seems that some cardiac-specific element(s) within the intragenic sequences are involved in the cardiac-specific expression of the *desmin* gene (Li *et al.*, in preparation).

Vimentin: a potentially ubiquitous IF

Vimentin is the first IF III to be expressed during development

Vimentin is a 58 KDa (464 aminoacids) cytoskeletal protein, whose expression pattern is unique among type III IFs.

In contrast to that of the other IFs, vimentin expression is not related to a single lineage. Indeed, its expression can be detected in tissues originating from both the ectodermal and the mesodermal layers. A prominent vimentin expression is characteristic of precursor neural and mesenchymal cells from the mouse embryo. In these cells, vimentin expression is complex, due to rapid dynamic variations (Table 2).

Appearance of vimentin filaments is first detected at day 8.5 P.C. in mesoderm cells between the primitive streak and the proximal endoderm (Table 2) (Jackson *et al.*, 1981; Franke *et al.*, 1982). At day 8.5 p.c., vimentin expression is detected in some cephalic mesenchymal cells, in the notochord, the epimyocardium and blood vessels; somatopleura and splanchnopleura are also positive (Table 2) (Paulin, unpublished).

Expression in the neural tube first occurs at the cephalic level at day 9 p.c. At day 10.5 p.c., dorsal root ganglia begin to express vimentin (Table 2). Vimentin can be detected in sympathetic ganglia at day 14 p.c. (Table 2). In neuronal precursor cells, vimentin is progressively replaced by neurofilaments (Cochard and Paulin, 1984). At this stage, all blood vessels contain large amounts of vimentin, whereas no expression can be detected in the somites nor in the sclerotomes. Cartilaginous structures originating from the sclerotomes also lack vimentin, whereas dorsal mesoderm is positive (Table 2). The mesodermal layer from internal organs also expresses vimentin. In limb buds only blood vessels display vimentin IFs (Table 2). Later in the developing nervous system vimentin expression is observed in numerous glial cells. In most astroglial cells, vimentin is replaced by GFAP. However, in a subset of adult astroglial cells, both IFs can be found. Thus, it appears that vimentin is initially widely expressed in the embryo and becomes progressively restricted to fewer cell types. Although vimentin expression cannot be detected in most endodermal derivatives and in many cells derived from the ectoderm and the mesoderm in vivo, most vimentin-negative cells re-express this IF proteins upon in vitro culture.

Multiple enhancer and silencer elements control the vimentin gene

The *vimentin* gene has been cloned and extensively characterized in several vertebrate organisms such as human, mouse, hamster and chicken (Ferrari *et al.*, 1986; Sax *et al.*, 1988; Colucci *et al.*, 1994). In human the *vimentin* gene has been allocated to chromosome 10p12 (Ferrari *et al.*, 1987; Mattei *et al.*, 1989; Baumgartner *et al.*, 1991) and in the mouse to chromosome 2A.

Vimentin gene belongs to the family of immediate-early genes activated rapidly when cells are stimulated from quiescence to mitosis (Siebert and Fukuda, 1985; Ferrari et al., 1986; Sax et al., 1988; Vicart et al., 1994). Enhancer binding sites as well as negative elements have been characterized in human, hamster and chicken genes (Fig. 1) (Rittling et al., 1989; Sax et al., 1989; Zehner, 1991; Stover and Zehner, 1992; Salvetti et al., 1993). Two enhancers corresponding to AP1/c-jun and to NF-kB are involved in the control of the expression of the vimentin gene, and could explain one of the molecular mechanisms through which the vimentin gene is a mitogen-inducible gene (Fig. 1) (Rittling et al., 1989; Lilienbaum et al., 1990, 1993). The proximal NF-kB enhancer resides upstream of the promoter (Fig. 1). Further upstream silencer and "desilencer" elements may be important in limiting the expression of the gene. A (distal) enhancer element, which consists of a tandem of AP-1/Jun binding sites (TGAGTCA and TGACTAA), is located 5' to the negative regulatory region. (Fig. 1). These two sites are involved in serum and TPA inducibility. The AP-1 sequences interact mostly with heterodimers made by the association of one member of the jun family with the fos factor, or some related gene products, through the leucinezipper dimerization motif.

Cellular factors, related to the NF-kB family are required for the induction of the *vimentin* gene by the tumor promoter PMA and by the human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax gene product. The NF-KB binding site is 5' GGGGCTTTCC3' in the antisense strand. Deletion of the NF-KB binding site from the human *vimentin* promoter (reduced to 210 nucleotides upstream the transcription

initiation site) abolished transactivation by human T-cell leukemia virus gene product (Lilienbaum *et al.*, 1990; (Lilienbaum and Paulin, 1993).

The vimentin promoter displays six A+T rich motifs homologous to the known binding sites for the homeoproteins of the Hox family which are located between nucleotides -1226 and -1549 (Benazzouz *et al.*, in preparation). Gel-shift and footprinting experiments have shown that the Hox-A5 protein, a member of the Hox family of developmental control homeodomain proteins is able to bind specifically to these motifs. Ectopic expression of Hox gene product into embryonal carcinoma cells, which do not express the *Hox* gene products, led to a significant increase of the activity of a vimentin promoter deletion mutant containing the Hox binding sites. Such an increase was not observed in cells expressing the endogenous *Hox* genes. This observation raises the possibility that homeodomain proteins play a role in the regulation of the developmental expression of the vimentin gene.

Vimentin transgenesis in mouse recapitulates the complex and dynamic expression pattern

Constructs derived from the human and mouse *vimentin* genes have been used to generate transgenic mice. A first study used homologous recombination to insert the *lac-Z* gene inside of the endogenous gene in frame with the murine vimentin N-terminal coding sequences (Colucci-Guyon *et al.*, 1994). Analysis of transgenic embryos showed an expression pattern strikingly similar to that of the endogenous *vimentin* gene (Fig. 4).

However, transgenes including up to 4 kb of *vimentin* upstream sequences and 8 kb coding region, previously used for homologous recombination, are not able to drive expression in vessels when integrated outside of the normal site. Thus it seems that these *vimentin* upstream and intragenic regulatory sequences do not carry all the necessary information required for the spatiotemporal expression in the embryo.

The *lac-Z* gene was also placed under the control of 1710 bp of human *vimentin* upstream regulatory sequences. Like the endogenous *vimentin* gene, the transgene was expressed in ganglia and superficial connective tissues (Gabbiani *et al.*, 1981). Differences were found in vessels and neuroectoderm where the transgene was not expressed in contrast to the endogenous *vimentin* gene (Paulin, unpublished results; Lilienbaum *et al.*, in preparation).

Strikingly, transgene containing 830 bp of upstream sequences displayed a very limited expression in the developing embryo (Lilienbaum *et al.*, in preparation). Thus, in contrast to the situation observed *in vitro*, sequences located upstream of the 830 bp deletion mutant play a major role in the control of the developmental expression of the *vimentin* gene. It is not yet known whether the Hox-binding sites located in the upstream regulatory region of the vimentin gene, play a role in the expression of the 1710 bp construct in transgenic embryos. Breeding vimentin-*lac-Z* transgenic mice with mice carrying inactivated alleles of homeobox containing genes obtained through homologous recombination, will be required to answer this question.

Altogether, these data suggest the existence of multiple elements required for the proper expression of the vimentin gene. The elements responsible for the expression in vessels could be located either far upstream, in the 3' portion or even downstream from the gene. Thus, in spite of its complexity, the 5' upstream vimentin region is not able to reproduce the endogenous vimentin expression pattern in mouse embryos. To address the biological role of vimentin in the context of the living organism, a vimentin null mutation was introduced into the germ line of mice (Colucci-Guyon et al., 1994). Surprisingly, animals homozygous for this mutation developed and reproduced without any obvious phenotype. Immunoblotting and immunofluorescence analysis confirmed the absence of vimentin and of the corresponding filament network. Furthermore, no compensatory expression of another intermediate filament could be demonstrated. It was observed that in a subset of astrocytic cells, which do normally coexpress GFAP and vimentin, no GFAP filaments could be observed (Galou et al., in preparation). While these results leave open the question of the possible role of vimentin in unusual or pathological situations, they show that a conspicuous developmental and cell-specific structure, which is an integral part of the cytoskeleton, can be eliminated without apparent effect on mouse reproduction and development.

Discussion

In this review, we have focused on the regulation of type III intermediate filament genes, which constitute a subfamily of highly related genes. A very high degree of sequence homology suggests that these four genes have arisen recently through successive duplications of an ancestral gene. Therefore, we would like to suggest that the acquisition of different cell-specific control elements occurred relatively recently. This reinforces the interest of using type III IF genes as tools to analyze cell-specific gene regulation.

5' upstream sequences play a major role in the regulation of type III IF genes transcription

It was observed that the 5' upstream sequences of type III IF genes contain key regulatory elements (Fig. 1). While this observation does not exclude the occurrence of other control elements located downstream of the transcriptional initiation sites, as was found in the case of GFAP, desmin and peripherin, it does contrast with the situation observed for other classes of intermediate filaments (see below).

Analysis of the cis and trans-acting factors involved in the control of type III IF gene regulation is likely to provide some key information on the mechanisms involved in the control of cell-specific transcription. This assumption is supported by the data obtained in the case of desmin. Indeed a lot of information has been accumulated on skeletal muscle-specific transcription, which collectively point out to the key involvement of transcription factors belonging to the MyoD and MEF-2 families cooperating in the control of transcription in differentiated myotubes. The situation observed for the *desmin* myotube-specific enhancer was found to perfectly mirror the data obtained for the regulatory elements of other genes specifically expressed in differentiated myotubes.

In contrast, little is known about the mechanisms involved in the control of myoblast-specific gene expression. We would like to suggest that the mechanisms involved in the activity of the *desmin* myoblast-specific enhancer are likely to be similar to those involved in the control of the activity of other myoblast-specific regulatory elements. It is also likely that the mechanisms controlling *GFAP* gene expression in astrocytes and *peripherin* gene expression in some neurons will also help decipher the control mechanisms involved in gene expression in these cell types, for which little information is currently available.

In the case of desmin, positive elements located in the proximal promoter and in the enhancer region appear to be responsible for cell-specific transcription, while a negative region flanked by these two positive control areas reduces transcriptional activity in an apparently ubiquitous manner.

In the case of GFAP and peripherin, ubiquitously active positive elements have been described. Cell-specific transcription of these two genes was found to be controlled by negative elements counteracting the activity of the positive elements in nonexpressing cell types (Fig. 1).

Intragenic sequences play a major role in the regulation of other IF genes

Expression of the genes encoding for cytokeratins 8 and 18 was found to be controlled by enhancer elements located respectively 3' to the gene (CK8) and in the first intron (CK18) (Oshima *et al.*, 1990; Takemoto *et al.*, 1991). In contrast, the 5' upstream regions exhibited little or no activity. Additional mechanisms such as methylation and insulation have also been shown to be involved in the control of these genes (Oshima *et al.*, 1990; Takemoto *et al.*, 1993). In the study by Thorey *et al.* (1993), insulation was found to be partially dependent on the transcription of a 5'-located alu sequence.

A prominent role of intragenic elements was also shown for the type IV nestin gene. Nestin expression in neuroepithelial precursors appears to be controlled by a neural-specific enhancer located in the second intron, while a muscle-specific enhancer located in the first intron is responsible for the expression in somitic myogenic precursors (Zimmerman *et al.*, 1994).

Expression of the genes encoding the medium (140 kDa) and heavy (200 kDa) subunits of neurofilaments is controlled by intragenic cell-specific regulatory elements (Lee *et al.*, 1992; Charron *et al.*, 1993) while an intermediate situation is observed for the light (70 kDa) subunit. Indeed apparently redundant cellspecific regulatory elements in the NF-70 gene appear to be localized both in the 5' upstream region (between nucleotides -1.8 kb and -0.3 kb) and inside the gene (Julien *et al.*, 1987; Beaudet *et al.*, 1992; Ivanov and Brown 1992). It is worth noting that a similar situation was observed for the type III *GFAP* and *peripherin* genes, also expressed in neural tissue.

However, as noted previously, the 5' regions of the *GFAP* and *peripherin* genes play an important regulatory role.

The regulation of vimentin gene expression is unique among IF genes

Vimentin expression is not restricted to a single cell lineage. The control of its expression appears to require multiple regulatory elements some of which could be located far upstream, in the 3' portion or even downstream of the gene. The *vimentin* promoter, which is not able to confer the complete expression pattern to a reporter gene, is complex and its activity appears to be controlled by a combination of positive and negative elements. These are characterized by some degree of ubiquitous activity which can be further enhanced or lowered depending on the cell state. Therefore it seems that mechanisms controlling vimentin expression are somewhat intermediate between those controlling neural type III IF genes (*GFAP* and *peripherin*) and the mesodermal muscle-specific *desmin* gene. Interestingly, vimentin expression can be detected in precursor cells from both neural and mesodermal lineages. From an evolutionary point of view, *vimentin* appeared before the other type III IF genes which could be derived from a vimentin-like ancestor (Weber and Geisler, 1985; Weber *et al.*, 1991). While vimentin expression is restricted to some cell types in the animal, it can be reinduced in most cell types upon *in vitro* culture and is thus potentially ubiquitous.

Why several type III IF genes?

The very high similarity between the various type III IF genes raises the question of the biological significance of the occurrence of four type III IF genes.

Embryonic development is characterized by a transient expression of vimentin in mesodermal and neural precursor cells from the early embryo. Subsequently, vimentin disappears from the cells which start to accumulate other type III IFs (desmin, GFAP, peripherin).

We would like to suggest that the various type III IF genes evolved from an ancestral vimentin gene, whose expression was ubiquitous. The increasing complexity of organisms called for subtle control mechanisms required to trigger the dynamic type III IF expression pattern. A single regulatory region might have become insufficient to ensure the control of such dynamic and complex IF gene transcription. The need for these dynamic variations might have led to gene duplication events therefore allowing type III IF gene expression in precursor cells (vimentin), disappearance of vimentin type III IF from these cells followed by accumulation of other type III IFs (desmin, GFAP, peripherin) in differentiating cells. Such hypothesis leads to the suggestion that type III IF function might become more apparent upon variation of the amount of these proteins in the cell rather than upon presence or absence of these proteins in the cell. Such hypothesis, which contrasts with observations made for cytokeratins (Oshima, 1992), can be tested by inducing a permanent expression of type III IF in the neural or mesodermal lineages. Such experimental strategy, together with targeted inactivation of the genes, might shed light on the still enigmatic function of type III IFs s.

Conclusion

So far, gene disruption experiments, performed in the cases of vimentin and GFAP, have not allowed to assign a precise physiological role for the type III IF gene products whose biological function remains enigmatic. While the possibility remains open that the lack of obvious phenotypes could be ascribed to redundancy between very similar gene products, it is noteworthy that no evidence for compensation by the expression of another type III protein could be found in vimentin and GFAP null embryos.

The very high similarity between the different type III IF proteins further raises the question of the evolutionary significance of the gene duplications which led to the amplification of this small gene subfamily.

Whatever is the rationale for the occurrence of four type III IFs, if any, it is clear that analysis of the mechanisms which control their expression will further contribute to our knowledge on cellspecific transcription.

454 P. Duprey and D. Paulin

The combined use of both *in vivo* (transgenic mice) and *in vitro* (cell lines) experiments has already demonstrated that multiple cell-specific elements contribute to the establishment of the complete expression pattern of the different type III IF genes and the occurrence of both upstream and intragenic elements has been established.

Further work will be required to determine how the impact of these multiple cell-specific elements is integrated at the level of a single transcription unit. It is clear that the understanding of the dynamic interactions between multiple scattered regulatory elements will be a major challenge for the deciphering of the molecular basis of cell type specific type III IF gene expression.

Summary

In recent years, intermediate filaments (IFs) have attracted much interest, largely because their constitutive polypeptide units are specifically expressed in various cell types and thus represent excellent differentiation markers. Data obtained through biochemical studies and molecular cloning have allowed the classification of IFs into five types according to their protein structure. The expression of most IF types is characteristic of a given cell type: cytokeratins (IF types I an II) are produced in epithelia, neurofilaments and α -internexin (type IV) in neurons and nestin (type IV) in neuroblast and myoblast.

On the other hand the four type III IFs are highly related proteins which are expressed in different cell types. Thus the study of type III IF gene regulation provides an excellent approach towards the analysis of cell-specific transcription. This review focuses on type III IF gene regulation during mouse embryogenesis and describes the latest data obtained through the combination of both *in vitro* (in cell lines) and *in vivo* (in transgenic mice) approaches. It appears that, while intragenic sequences play a major role in the regulation of the expression of the genes encoding other types of IFs, a major contribution to the transcriptional regulation of type III IF genes is brought by 5' upstream sequences. However, recent evidence obtained through the use of transgenic mice indicate that upstream sequences must cooperate with intragenic elements to establish the complex and dynamic expression pattern characteristic of type III IF genes.

The very high similarity between the coding sequences of type III IF genes raises the question of the significance of the occurrence of four members of this class. We propose a model for the amplification of this small gene family based on the increasing complexity of expression patterns in higher organisms. This could have led first to the requirement for a highly sophisticated control region in an ancestral type III IF gene, followed by two successive gene duplications, thus leading to the appearance of four different regulatory regions directing the cell-specific transcription of nearly identical genes in different cell types.

KEY WORDS: intermediate filaments, transcriptional control, mouse embryo, gene duplication.

Acknowledgments

This paper is dedicated to the memory of Hubert Condamine. We wish to thank him again for many enlightening discussions. We are indebted to Z.L. Li and A. Benazzouz for sharing unpublished observations on desmin and vimentin control sequences. We would like to thank C. Babinet, E. Colluci, K. Djabali, P. Dupouey, M. Galou, Z.L. Li, A. Lilienbaum, L. Lossouarn, J.J. Panthier, M.M. Portier and J.L. Simonneau for providing the illustrations for Figures 2 to 4 and for sharing unpublished data. We are grateful to Drs. P. Coulombe and M.H. Kryszke for critical review of the manuscript. We are indebted to P. Ave and M. Huerre for histology examinations. Part of the work was granted from Ministère de la Recherche, Association Française contre les Myopathies, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (Contrat 920810) and Association pour la Recherche sur le Cancer (Contrat 6918).

References

- AZUMI, N., SHEBANI, K. and BATTIFORA, H. (1988). Keratin-like immunoreactivity in leiomyosarcoma, uterine leiomyomia and normal myometrium by multiple antikeratin antibodies. *Lab. Invest.* 58: 6A.
- BABAI, F., MUSEVI-AGHDAM, J., SCHURCH, W., ROYAL, A. and GABBIANI, G. (1990). Coexpression of α-sarcomeric actin, α-smooth muscle actin and desmin during myogenesis in rat and mouse embryos I. Skeletal muscle. *Differentiation* 44: 132-142.
- BALDWIN, T.J. and BURDEN, S.J. (1989). Muscle-specific gene expression controlled by a regulatory element lacking a MyoD1-binding site. *Nature 341*: 716-720.
- BAUMGARTNER, M., DUTRILLAUX, B., LEMIEUX, N., LILIENBAUM, A. PAULIN, D. and VIEGAS-PEQUIGNOT, E. (1991). Genes occupy a fixed and symmetrical position on sister chromatids. *Cell* 64: 761-766.
- BEACH, T., WALKU, G.R. and McGEER, E. G. (1989). Patterns of gliosis in Alzheimer's disease and aging cerebrum. *Glia 2*: 420-436.
- BEAUDET, L., CHARRON, G. and JULIEN, J-P. (1992a). Origin of the two mRNA species for the human neurofilament light gene. *Neuroscience 70*: 279-284.
- BEAUDET, L., CHARRON, G., HOULE, D., TRET, I., PETERSON, A. and JULIEN, J-P. (1992b). Intragenic regulatory elements contribute to transcriptional control of the neurofilament light gene. *Gene 116*: 205-214.
- BEGEMAN, M., TAN, S.S., CUNNINGHAM, B. A. and EDELMAN, G.M. (1990). Expression of chicken liver cell adhesion molecule fusion genes in transgenic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87*: 9042-9046.
- BESNARD, F., BRENNER, M., NAKATANI, Y., CHAO, R., PUROHIT, H.J. and FREESE, E. (1991). Multiple interacting sites regulate astrocyte-specific transcription on the human gene for glial fibrillary acidic protein. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 18877-18883.
- BIGNAMI, A., ENG, L.F., DAHL, D. and UYEDA, C.T. (1972). Localization of glial fibrillary acidic protein in astrocytes by immunofluorescence. *Brain Res.* 43: 429-435.
- BOVOLENTA, P.R., LIEM, K.H. and MASON, C.N. (1987). Glial filament protein expression in astroglia in the mouse visual pathway. *Dev. Brain Res.* 33: 113-126.
- BOYER, S., MONTAGUTELLI, X., GOMES, D., SIMON-CHAZOTTES, D., GUENET, J.L. and DUPOUEY, P. (1991). Recent evolutionary origin of the expression of the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in lens epithelial cells. A molecular and genetic analysis of various mouse species. *Mol. Brain Res.* 10: 159-166.
- BRULET, P., BABINET, C., KEMLER, R. and JACOB, F. (1980). Monoclonal antibodies against trophectoderm-specific markers during mouse blastocyst formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sic. USA* 77: 4113-4117.
- BRUNKENER, M. and GEORGATOS, S.D. (1992). Membrane binding properties of filensin, a cytoskeletal protein of the lens fiber cells. J. Cell Sci. 103: 709-718.
- CHARRON, G., BEAUDET, L., COTE, F., HOULE, D. and JULIEN, J.P. (1993). Regulation of the human neurofilament light and heavy genes in transgenic mice. In Transfer and Therapy in the Nervous System (Ed. C. Gage). Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, pp. 156-164.
- CHISHOLM, J. and HOULISTON, E. (1987). Cytokeratin filament assembly in the preimplantation mouse embryo. *Development* 101:565-582.
- CHRISTY, B. and NATHANS, D. (1989). DNA binding site of the growth factorinducible protein Zif268. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86: 8737-8741.
- COCHARD, P. and PAULIN, D. (1984). Initial expression of neurofilaments and vimentin in the central and peripheral nervous system of the mouse embryo *in vivo. J. Neurosci.* 4: 2080-2094.

- COLUCCI-GUYON, E., PORTIER, M.M., DUNIA, I., PAULIN, D., POURNIN, S. and BABINET, C. (1994). Mice lacking vimentin develop and reproduce without an obvious phenotype. *Cell* 79 : 679-694.
- COULOMBE, P.A. (1993). The cellular and molecular biology of keratins: beginning a new era. Curr. Opin Cell Biol. 5: 17-29.
- DAHL, D., RUEGER, D.C., BIGNAMI, A., WEBER, K. and OSBORN, M. (1981). Vimentin the 57000 daltons protein of fibroblast filaments is the major cytoskeletal component in immature glia. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 24: 191-196.
- DE VITRY, F., PICART, R., JACQUES, C. and TIXIER-VIDAL, A. (1981). Glial fibrillary acidic protein: a cellular marker of tanycytes in the mouse hypothalamus. *Dev. Neurosci.* 4:457-460.
- DELACOURTE, A. (1990). General and dramatic glial reaction in Alzheimer brains. *Neurology* 40: 33-37.
- DESMARAIS, D., FILION, M., LAPOINTE, L. and ROYAL, A. (1992). Cell-specific transcription of the peripherin gene in neuronal cell lines involves a cis-acting element surrounding the TATA box. *EMBO J.* 11: 2971-2980.
- DONOGHUE, M., ERNEST, H., WENTWORTH, B., NADAL-GINARD, B. and ROSENTHAL, N. (1988). A muscle-specific enhancer is located at the 3' end of myosin light-chain 1/3 gene locus. *Genes Dev. 2*: 1779-1790.
- DRÄGER, U.C. (1983). Coexistence of neurofilaments and vimentin in a neuron of adult mouse retina. *Nature 303*: 169-172.
- DUPREY, P. and LESENS, C. (1994). Control of skeletal muscle-specific transcription: involvement of paired homeodomain and MADS domain transcription factors. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 38: 591-604.
- DUPREY, P., MORELLO, D., VASSEUR, M., BABINET, C., CONDAMINE, H., BRULET, P. and JACOB, F. (1985). Expression of the cytokeratin endo A gene during early mouse embryogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82*: 8535-8539.
- ENG, L.F (1980). Glial fibrillary acidic protein. In Proteins of the Nervous System (Eds. L.F. Eng, R.A. Bradshaw and D.M. Schneider). Raven Press, New York, pp. 85-117.
- ENG, L.F. (1985). Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP): the major protein of glial intermediate filaments in differentiated astrocytes. J. Neuroimmunol. 8: 203-214.
- ENG, L.F., VANDERHAEGHEN, J.J., BIGNAMI, A. and GERSTL, B. (1971). An acidic protein isolated from fibrous astrocytes. *Brain Res.* 28: 351-354.
- ESCURAT, M., DJABALI, K., GUMPEL, M., GROS, F. and PORTIER, M.M. (1990). Differential expression of two neuronal intermediate-filament proteins peripherin and the low-molecular weight neurofilament protein (NF-L), during the development of the rat. J. Neurosci. 10: 764-784.
- FERRARI, S., BATTINI, R., KACZMAREK, L., RITTLING, S., CALABRETA, B., DE RIEL, J.K., PHILIPONIS, V., WEI, J-F. and BASERGA, R. (1986). Coding sequence and growth regulation of the human vimentin gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol. 6:* 3614-3620.
- FERRARI, S., CANNIZARO, L., BATTINI, R. HUEBNER, K. and BASERGA, R. (1987). The gene encoding human vimentin is located on the short arm of chromosome 10. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 41:614-616.
- FRANKE, W.W., GRUND, C., KUHN, C., JACKSON, B.W. and ILLMENSEE, K. (1982) Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis: III primary mesenchymal cells and the first appearance of vimentin filaments. *Differentiation 23*: 43-59.
- FRANKE, W.W., SCHMID, E., OSBORN, M. and WEBER, K. (1978). Different intermediate sized filaments distinguished by immunofluorescence microscopy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75: 5034-5038.
- FUCHS, E. (1991). Threads between useful and useless. Do intermediate filaments have functions? Recent studies have brought answers to this question closer than ever before. *Curr. Biol.* 1: 284-286.
- FÜRST, D.O., OSBORN, M. and WEBER, K. (1989). Myogenesis in the mouse embryo: differential onset of the expression of myogenic proteins and the involvement of titin in myofibril assembly. J. Cell Biol. 109: 517-526.
- GABBIANI, G., SCHMID, E., WINTER, S., CHAPONNIER, C., DE CHASTONAY, C., VANDEKERCKHOVE, J., WEBER, K. and FRANKE, W.W. (1981). Vascular smooth muscle cells differ from other smooth muscle cells: predominance of vimentin filaments and a specific α-type actin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78*: 298-302.
- GALOU, M., POURNIN, S., ENSERGUEIX, D., RIDET, J. L., TCHELINGERIAN, J.L., LOSSOUARN, L., PRIVAT, A., BABINET, C. and DUPOUEY, P. (1994). Normal

and pathological expression of GFAP promoter elements in transgenic mice. Glia 12: 281-293.

- GALLICANO, G.I., LARABELL, C.A., McGAUGHEY, R. and CAPCO, D. (1994). Novel cytoskeletal elements in mammalian eggs are composed of a unique arrangement of intermediate filaments. *Mech. Dev.* 45: 211-226.
- GEISLER, N. and WEBER, K. (1981). Comparison of the proteins of two immunologically distinct intermediate-sized filaments by amino acid sequence analysis: desmin and vimentin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78: 4120-4123.
- GEISLER, N. and WEBER, K. (1982). The amino acid sequence of chicken muscle desmin provides a common structural model for intermediate filament proteins. *EMBO J. 1*: 1649-1656.
- GEISLER, N. and WEBER, K. (1983). Amino acid sequence data on glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFA); implications for the subdivision of intermediate filaments into epithelial and non-epithelial members. *EMBO J. 2*: 2059-2063.
- GEISLER, N., FISCHER, S., VANDEKERCHHOVE, J., PLESSMANN, U. and WEBER, K. (1984). Hybrid character of a large neurofilament protein (NF-M): intermediate filament type sequence followed by a long and acidic carboxyterminal extension. *EMBO J. 3*: 2701-2706.
- GEISLER, N., PLESSMANN, U. and WEBER, K. (1983). Amino acid sequence characterization of mammalian vimentin, the mesenchymal intermediate filament protein. FEBS Lett. 163: 22-24.
- GEORGATOS, S.D. and BLOBEL, G. (1987). Lamin B constitutes an intermediate filament attachment site at the nuclear envelope. J. Cell Biol. 105: 117-125.
- GOMI, H., YOKOYAMA, T., FUJIMOTO, J., IKEDA, T., KATOH, A., ITOH, T. and ITOHARA, S. (1995). Mice devoid of the Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein develop normally and are susceptible to scrapie prions. *Neuron* 14: 29-41.
- GORHAM, J.D., BAKER, H., KEGLER, D. and ZIFF, E.B. (1990). The expression of the neuronal intermediate filament protein peripherin in the rat embryo. *Dev. Brain Res.* 57: 235-248.
- GOSSETT, L., KELVIN, D., STERNBERG, E. and OLSON, E. (1989). A new myocyte-specific enhancer-binding factor that recognizes a conserved element associated with multiple muscle-specific genes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9: 5022-5033.
- GOUNARI, F., MERDES, A., QUINLAN, R., HESS, J., FITZ-GERALD, P., OUZOUNIS, C.A. and GEORGATOS, S. (1993). Bovine filensin possesses primary and secondary structure similarity to intermediate filaments proteins. J. *Cell Biol.* 121: 847-853.
- GUPTA, M., ZAK, R. and SUKHATME, V. (1991). Egr-1, a serum inducible zinc finger protein, regulates transcription of the rat cardiac α-myosin heavy chain gene. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 12813-12816.
- HEMMATI-BRIVANLOU, A., MANN, R.W. and HARLAND, R.M. (1992). A protein expressed in the growth cones of embryonic vertebrate neurons defines a new class of intermediate filament proteins. *Neuron* 9: 417-428.
- HILL, C.S., DURAN, S., LIN, Z., WEBER, K. and HOLTZER, H. (1986). Titin and myosin, but not desmin, are linked during myofibrillogenesis in post-mitotic mononucleated myoblasts. J. Cell Biol. 103: 2185-2196.
- HOLTZER, H., BENNETT, G.H., TAPSCOTT, S.J. and TOYAMA, Y. (1982). Intermediate-size filaments: changes in synthesis and distribution in cells of the myogenic and neurogenic lineages. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 46: 317-329.
- HORLICK, R.A. and BENFIELD, P.A. (1989). The upstream muscle-specific enhancer of the rat muscle creatine kinase gene is composed of multiple elements. *Mol. Cell. Biol. 9*: 2396-2413.
- IVANOV, T.R. and BROWN, I.R. (1992). Interaction of multiple nuclear proteins with the promoter region of the mouse 68-kDa neurofilament gene. J. Neurosci. Res. 32: 149-158.
- JACKSON, B.W., GRUND, C., SCHMID, E., BÜRKI, K., FRANKE, W.W. and ILLMENSEE, K. (1980). Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis. Intermediate filaments of the cytokeratin type and desmosomes in preimplantation embryos. *Differentiation* 17: 161-179.
- JACKSON, B.W., GRUND, C., WINTER, S., FRANKE, W.W. and ILLMENSEE, K. (1981). Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis II. Epithelial differentiation and intermediate-size filaments in early postimplantation embryos. *Differentiation 20*: 203-216.
- JAYNES, J.B., JOHNSON, J.E., BUSKIN, J.N., GARTSIDE, C.L. and HAUSCHKA, S.D. (1988). The muscle creatine kinase gene is regulated by multiple upstream elements, including a muscle-specific enhancer. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 8: 62-70.

456 P. Duprey and D. Paulin

- JULIEN, J.P., TRETJAKOFF, I., BEAUDET, L. and PETERSON, A. (1987). Expression and assembly of a human neurofilament protein in transgenic mice provide a novel neuronal marking system. *Genes Dev.* 1: 1085-1095.
- KANEKO, R. and SUEOKA, N. (1993). Tissue-specific versus cell type-specific expression of the glial fibrillary acidic protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:* 4698-4702.
- KAUFMAN, S.J. and FOSTER, R.F. (1988). Replicating myoblasts express a musclespecific phenotype. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85: 9606-9610.
- KORLICK, R.A. and BENFIELD P.A. (1989). The upstream muscle-specific enhancer of the rat muscle creatine kinase gene is composed of multiple elements. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9: 2396-2413.
- KURUC, N. and FRANKE, W.W. (1988). Transient coexpression of desmin and cytokeratins 8 and 18 in developing myocardial cells of some vertebrate species. *Differentiation 38*: 177-193.
- LANE, E.B., HOGAN, B.L.M., KURKINEN, M. and GARRELS, J.I. (1983). Coexpression of vimentin and cytokeratins in parietal endoderm cells of early mouse embryo. *Nature 303*: 701-704.
- LAPING, N.J., TETER, B., NICHOLS, N.R., ROZOVSKY, I. and FINCH, C.E. (1994). Glial fibrillary acidic protein: regulation by hormones, cytokines and growth factors. *Brain Pathol.* 1: 259-275.
- LAZARIDES, E. (1980). Intermediate filaments as mechanical integrators of cellular space. Nature 283: 249-256.
- LAZARIDES, E. (1982). Intermediate filaments: a chemically heterogeneous, developmentally regulated class of proteins. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 51: 219-250.
- LAZARIDES, E. and HUBBARD, B.D. (1976). Immunological characterization of the subunit of the 100 A filaments from muscle cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 73*: 4344-4348.
- LEE, M.Y., ELDER, G.A., CHEN LIANG, Z., SNYDER, S.E., FRIEDRICH, V.L. and LAZZARINI, R.A. (1992). Expression of human mid-sized neurofilament subunit in transgenic mice. *Mol. Brain Res.* 15: 76-84.
- LEHTONEN, E., LEHTO, V.P., PAASIVUO, R. and VIRTANEN, I. (1983). Parietal and visceral endoderm differ in their expression of intermediate filaments. *EMBO J. 2*: 1023-1028.
- LEHTONEN, E., ORDANEZ, G. and REIMA, I. (1987). Cytoskeleton in preimplantation mouse development. Cell Differ. 24: 165-178
- LEMAIRE, P., VESQUE, C., SCHMITT, J., STUNNENBERG, H., FRANCK, R. and CHARNAY, P. (1990). The serum-inducible mouse gene Krox-24 encodes a sequence-specific transcriptional activator. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10: 3456-3467.
- LENDAHL, U., ZIMMERMAN, L.B. and McKAY, R.D.G. (1990). CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. *Cell* 60: 585-595.
- LEONARD, D.G.B., GORHAM, J.D., COLE, P., GREENE, L.A. and ZIFF, E.B. (1988). A nerve growth factor-regulated messenger RNA encodes a new intermediate filament protein. J. Cell Biol. 106: 181-193.
- LEWIS, S.A. and COWAN, N.J. (1985). Temporal expression of mouse glial fibrillary acidic protein mRNA studied by a rapid in situ hybridization procedure. J. Neurochem. 45: 913-919.
- LEWIS, S.A., BALCAREK, J.M., KREK, V., SHELANSKI, M. and COWAN, N.J. (1984). Sequence of a cDNA clone encoding mouse glial fibrillary acidic protein: structural conservation of intermediate filaments. *Proc. Natl. Sci. USA 81*: 2743-2746.
- LI, H. and CAPETANAKI, Y. (1993). Regulation of the mouse desmin gene: transactivation by MyoD, myogenin, MRF4 and Myf5. *Nucleic Acids Res. 21*: 335-343.
- LI, Z.L. and PAULIN, D. (1991). High level desmin expression depends on a musclespecific enhancer. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 6562-6570.
- LI, Z.L. and PAULIN, D. (1993). Different factors interact with myoblast-specific and myotube-specific enhancer regions of the human desmin gene. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 10403-10415.
- LI, Z.L., BUTLER-BROWNE, G. and PAULIN, D. (1989). Human desmin coding gene; complete nucleotide sequence, characterization and regulation of expression during myogenesis and development. *Gene 78*: 243-254.
- LI, Z.L., MARCHAND, P., HUMBERT, J., BABINET, C. and PAULIN, D. (1993). Desmin sequence elements regulating skeletal muscle-specific expression in transgenic mice. *Development* 117: 946-959.
- LI, Z.L., MATTEI, M.G., MATTEI, J.F. and PAULIN, D. (1990). Assignment of the mouse desmin gene to chromosome 1 band C3. *Genet. Res. Camb. 55*: 101-105.

- LIEM, R.K.H. (1993). Molecular biology of neuronal intermediate filaments. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5: 12-16.
- LILIENBAUM, A. and PAULIN, D. (1993). Activation of the human vimentin gene by the human T-cell leukemia virus I tax protein. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 2180-2188.
- LILIENBAUM, A., DUC DODON, M., ALEXANDRE, C., GAZZOLO, L. and PAULIN, D. (1990). Effect of the human T cell leukemia virus type I Tax protein on the activation of the human vimentin gene. J. Virol. 64: 256-263.
- MATTEI, M.G., LILIENBAUM, A., LI, Z.L., MATTEI, J.F. and PAULIN, D. (1989). Chromosomal localization of the mouse gene coding for vimentin. *Genet. Res.* 53: 33-36.
- MAUNOURY, R., DELPECH, A., DELPECH, B., VIDARD, M. and VEDRENNE, C. (1976). Presence of neurospecific antigen NSA1 in fetal human astrocytes in long term culture. *Brain Res.* 112: 383-387.
- MAYO, M., BRINGAS, M., SANTOS, V., SHUM, L. and SLAVKIN, H. C. (1992). Desmin expression during early mouse tongue morphogenesis. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 36: 255-263.
- McMAHON, A.P., CHAMPION, J.E., McMAHON, J.A. and SUKHATME, V.P. (1990). Developmental expression of the putative transcription factor Egr-1 suggests that Egr-1 and c-fos are coregulated in some tissues. *Development 108*: 281-287.
- MERDES, A., GOUNARI, F. and GEORGATOS, S.D. (1993). The 47 kDa lensspecific protein phakinin is a tailless intermediate filament protein and is an assembly partner of filensin. J. Cell Biol. 123: 1507-1516.
- MIURA, M., TAMURA, T. and MIKOSHIBA, K. (1990). Cell-specific expression of the mouse glial fibrillary acidic protein gene: identification of the cis- and trans-acting promoter element for astrocyte-specific expression. J. Neurochem. 55: 1180-1188.
- MIURA, M., TAMURA, T. and MIKOSHIBA, K. (1991). Involvement of the nuclear factor I motif in the mouse myelin basic protein promoter in cell-specific regulation: comparison with the mouse glial fibrillary acidic protein promoter. *Cell Growth Differ. 33*: 111-116.
- MOKUNO, K., KAMHOLZ, J., BEHRMAN, T., BLACK, C., SESSA, M., FEINSTEIN, D., LEE, V. and PLEASURE, P. (1989). Neuronal modulation of Schwann cell glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). J. Neurosci. 23: 396-405.
- MOLL, R., FRANKE, W.W., SCHILLER, D.L., GEIGER, B. and KRESSLER, R. (1982). The catalog of human cytokeratins: patterns of expression in normal epithelia, tumors and cultured cells. *Cell* 31: 11-24.
- MONCLA, A., LANDON,F., MATTEI, M.G. and PORTIER, M.M. (1992). Chromosomal localization of the mouse and human peripherin genes. *Genet. Res.* 59: 125-129.
- MUCKE, L., OLDSHONE, M.B.A., MORRIS, J.C. and WERENBERG, M.I. (1991). Rapid activation of astrocyte-specific expression of GFAP-*lacZ* transgene by local injury. *New Biologist 3*: 465-474.
- NAKABEPPU, Y., RYDER, K. and NATHANS, D. (1988). DNA binding activities of three murine jun proteins: stimulation by fos. *Cell* 55: 907915.
- NAKATANI, Y., BRENNER, M. and FREESE, E. (1990). An RNA polymerase II promoter containing sequences upstream and downstream from the RNA startpoint that direct initiation of transcription from the same site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87*: 4289-4293.
- NOETZEL, M.J. and AGRAWAL, H.C. (1985). Immunoblot identification of glial fibrillary acidic protein in rat sciatic nerve, brain, and spinal cord during development. *Neurochem. Res.* 10: 737-753.
- OLSON, E.N. and KLEIN,W.H. (1994). BHLH factors in muscle development: dead lines and commitments, what to leave in and what to leave out. *Genes Dev. 8*:1-8.
- OSBORN, M. and WEBER, K. (1982). Intermediate filaments: cell-type-specific markers in differentiation and pathology. *Cell* 31: 303-306.
- OSHIMA, R.G. (1982). Developmental expression of murine extra-embryonic endodermal cytoskeletal proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 3414-3421.
- OSHIMA, R.G. (1992). Intermediate filament molecular biology. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 4: 110-116.
- OSHIMA, R.G., ABRAMS, L. and KULESH, D. (1990). Activation of an intron enhancer within the keratin 18 gene by expression of c-fos and c-jun in undifferentiated F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. *Genes Dev.* 4: 835-848.
- PAULIN, D., BABINET, C., WEBER, K. and OSBORN, M. (1980). Antibodies as probes of cellular differentiation and cytoskeletal organization in the mouse blastocyst. *Exp. Cell Res.* 130: 297-304.

- PIEPER, F.R., SLOBBE, R.L., RAMAEKERS, F.C.S., CUYPERS, H.T. and BLOEMENDAL, H. (1987). Upstream regions of the hamster desmin and vimentin genes regulate expression during in vitro myogenesis. *EMBO J. 9:* 3611-3618.
- PORTIER, M.M., BRACHET, P., CROIZAT, B. and GROS, F. (1984). Regulation of peripherin in mouse neuroblastoma and rat PC12 cell lines. *Dev. Neurosci. 6*: 215-226.
- POWELL, B.C. and ROGERS, G.E. (1990). Cyclic hair-loss and regrowth in transgenic mice overexpressing an intermediate filament gene. *EMBO J. 9*: 1485-1493.
- QUAX, W., BROEK, L.V.D., EGBERTS, W.V., RAMAEKERS, F. and BLOEMENDAL, H. (1985). Characterization of the hamster desmin gene: expression and formation of desmin filaments in non muscle cells after gene transfer, *Cell* 43: 327-338.
- RAJU, T., BIGNAMI, A. and DAHL, D. (1981). In vivo and in vitro differentiation of neurons and astrocytes in the rat embryo. Dev. Biol. 85: 344-357.
- REMINGTON, (1993). Chicken filensin: a lens fiber cell protein that exhibits sequence similarity to intermediate filaments proteins. J. Cell Sci. 121: 1057-1068.
- RICKMANN, M., AMARAL, G. and MAXWELL, C. (1987). Organization of radial glial cells during the development of the rat dentate gyrus. J. Comp. Neurol. 264: 449-479.
- RICHET, E., VIDAL-INGIGLIARDI, D. and RAIBAUD, O. (1991). A new mechanism for coactivation of transcription initiation repositioning of an activator triggered by the binding of a second activator. *Cell 66:* 1185-1195.
- RIEMER, D., DODEMONT, H. and WEBER, K. (1992). Analysis of the cDNA and gene encoding a cytoplasmic intermediate filament (IF) protein from the cephalochordate *Branchiostoma lanceolatum*; implications for the evolution of the IF protein family. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 58: 128-135.
- RITTLING, S., COUTINHO, L., AMRAM, T. and KOLBE, M. (1989). AP-1/jun binding sites mediate serum inducibility of the human vimentin promoter. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16: 1619-1633.
- SALVETTI, A., LILIENBAUM, A., LI, Z.L., PAULIN, D. and GAZZOLO, L. (1993). Identification of a negative element in the human vimentin promoter: modulation by the human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13: 89-97.
- SARID, J. (1991). Identification of a cis-acting positive regulatory element of the glial fibrillary acidic protein gene. J. Neurosci. Res. 28: 217-228.
- SARKAR, S. and COWAN, N.J. (1991). Intragenic sequences affect the expression of the gene encoding glial fibrillary acidic protein. J. Neurochem. 57: 675-684.
- SARTHY, P.V., FU, M. and HUANG, J. (1991). Developmental expression of the glial fibrillary acidic protein gene in the mouse retina. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 11: 623-634.
- SAX, C.M., FARRELL, F.X. and ZEHNER, Z.E. (1989). Down-regulation of vimentin gene expression during myogenesis is controlled by a 5'-flanking sequence. *Gene 78*: 235-243.
- SAX, C.M., FARRELL, F.X., TOBIAN, J.A. and ZEHNER, Z.E. (1988). Multiple elements are required for expression of an intermediate filament gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16: 8057-8076.
- SCHAART, G., VIEBAHN, C., LANGMANN, W. and RAMAEKERS, F. (1989). Desmin and titin expression in early postimplantation mouse embryos. *Development 107*: 585-596.
- SEJERSEN, T. and LENDAHL, U. (1993). Transient expression of the intermediate filament nestin during skeletal muscle development. J. Cell Sci. 106: 1291-1300.
- SHAW, G., OSBORN, M. and WEBER, K. (1981). An immunofluorescence microscopical study of the neurofilament triplet proteins, vimentin and glial fibrillary acidic protein within the adult rat brain. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 26: 68-82.
- SIEBERT, P.D. and FUKUDA, M. (1985). Induction of cytoskeletal vimentin and actin gene expression by a tumor-promoting phorbol ester in the human leukemic cell line K562. J. Biol. Chem. 260: 3868-3874.
- SMALL, J.V. and SOBIESZEK, A. (1977). Studies on the function and composition of the 10nm (100 A) filaments of vertebrate smooth muscle. J. Cell Sci. 23: 243.
- STEINERT, P.M. and ROOP, D.R. (1988). Molecular and cellular biology of intermediate filaments. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 57: 593-625.
- STERNBERG, E.A., SPIZZ, G., PERRY, W.M., VIZARD, D., WEIL, T. and OLSON, E.N. (1988). Identification of upstream and intragenic regulatory elements that

confer cell-type-restricted and differentiation-specific expression on the muscle creatine kinase gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol. 8*: 2896-2909.

- STEWART, M. (1993). Intermediate filament structure and assembly. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5: 3-11.
- STOVER, D.M. and ZEHNER, Z.E. (1992). Identification of a cis-acting DNA antisilencer element which modulates vimentin gene expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12: 2230-2240.
- TAKEMOTO, Y, FUJIMURA, Y., MASTZUMOTO, M., TAMAI, Y., MORITA, T., MATZUMOTO, A. and NOZAKI, M. (1991). The promoter of the Endo A cytokeratin is activated by a 3' downstream enhancer. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 19: 2761-2765.
- TARDY, M., FAGES, C., RIOL, H., LEPRINCE, G., RATABOUL, P., CHARRIERE-BERTRAND, C. and NUNEZ, J. (1988). Developmental expression of GFAP mRNA in the central nervous system and in cultured astrocytes. J. Neurochem. 52: 162-169.
- THOMSON, M.A., LEE, E., LAWE, D., GIZANG-GINSBERG, E. and ZIFF, E.B. (1992). Nerve growth factor-induced derepression of peripherin gene expression is associated with alterations in protein binding to a negative regulatory element. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12: 2501-2513.
- THOREY, I.M.S., CECENA, R., REYNOLDS, G.W. and OSHIMA, R. (1993). Alu sequence involvement in transcriptional insulation of the keratin 18 gene in transgenic mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13: 6742-6751.
- TRAUB, P. (1985). Intermediate filaments. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 455: 68-78.
- TROY, C.M., BROWN, K., GREENE, L.A. and SHELANSKI, M.L. (1991). Ontogeny of the neuronal intermediate filament protein, peripherin, in the mouse embryo. *Neuroscience* 36: 217-237.
- VALENTINO, K.L., JONES, E.G. and KANE, S.A. (1983). Expression of GFAP immunoreactivity during development of long fiber tracts. *Dev. Brain Res. 9*: 317-336.
- VASSAR, R., COULOMBE, P.A., DEGENSTEIN, L., ALBERS, K. and FUCHS, E. (1991). Mutant keratin expression in transgenic mice causes marked abnormalities resembling a human genetic skin disease. *Cell* 64: 365-380.
- VICART, P., SCHWARTZ, B., VANDEWALLE, A., BENS, M., DELOUIS, C., PANTHIER, J-J., POURNIN, S., BABINET, C. and PAULIN, D. (1994). Immortalisation of multiple cell types from transgenic mice using a transgene containing the vimentin promoter and a conditional oncogene. *Exp. Cell Res.* 214: 35-45.
- VIEGAS-PÉQUIGNOT, E., LI, Z.L., DUTRILLAUX, B., APIOU, F. and PAULIN, D. (1989). Assignment of human desmin gene to band, 2q35 by nonradioactive in situ hybridization. Hum. Genet. 83: 33-36.
- WANG, X.M., TSAY, H.J. and SCHMIDT, J. (1990). Expression of the acetylcholine receptor δ-subunit gene in differentiating chick muscle cells is activated by an element that contains two 16 bp copies of a segment of the -subunit enhancer. *EMBO J. 9*: 783-790.
- WANG, Y., YANG, X.M., BALLIVET, M. and SCHMIDT, J. (1988). A cell typespecific enhancer drives expression of the chick muscle acetycholine receptor α-subunit gene. *Neuron* 1: 527-534.
- WEBER, K. and GEISLER, N. (1985). Intermediate filaments: structural conservation and divergence. Ann. N.Y Acad. Sci. 455: 126-143.
- WEBER, K., RIEMER, D. and DODEMONT, H. (1991). Aspects of the evolution of the lamin/intermediate filament protein family: a current analysis of invertebrate intermediate filament proteins. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 19: 1021-1023.
- WEINTRAUB, H. (1993). The MyoD family and myogenesis: redundancy, networks and thresholds. *Cell* 75: 1241-1244.
- YUTZEY, K., KLINE, R.L. and KONIECZNY, S.F. (1989). An internal regulatory element controls troponin 1 gene expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol. 9*: 1397-1405.
- ZEHNER, Z.E. (1991). Regulation of intermediate filament gene expression. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 3: 67-74.
- ZIMMERMAN, L., PARR, B., LENDAHL, U., GAVIN, B., MANN, J., CUNNINGHAM, M., VASSILEVA, M., McMAHON, A. and McKAY, R. (1994). Independent regulatory elements in the nestin gene direct transgene expression to neural stem cells or muscle precursors. *Neuron 12*: 11-24.

Accepted for publication: February 1995